1990

# Utah v. Lew Day : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

The Jurisdiction of the Court of Appeals is established by 78-2a-3(2)(f), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended.

NATURE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

This is an appeal from a Judgment, Sentence and Conviction in the Sixth District Court wherein the Defendant was convicted of Manslaughter, a Second-Degree Felony, and sentenced to serve one to fifteen years at the Utah State Prison.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Was the jury improperly tampered with during the selection process and the trial in this case?
2. Was there sufficient evidence to convict the Defendant of Manslaughter in this case?
3. Did the court properly instruct the jury regarding lesser included offenses in this case?
4. Was this Defendant denied due process of law due to inadequate representation by counsel at the trial?



#### DETERMINATIVE STATUTES OR RULES

The statute which is believed to be determinative in this matter is 76-5-205, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended. This statute is reproduced in total in the addendum to this brief.

#### NATURE OF THE CASE

This Defendant was charged with Second-Degree Murder in the Sixth District for Piute County and was convicted of the lesser included offense of Manslaughter, a Second-Degree Felony by jury verdict.

#### COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS

The Defendant was charged with Murder in the Second Degree in the Sixth Circuit Court in Piute County, State of Utah. The Defendant was held to answer after preliminary hearing to the charge of Murder in the Second Degree; and following a jury trial, he was convicted of Manslaughter, a lesser included offense. Following the conviction, the Defendant was sentenced and his trial counsel filed a Motion for New Trial and thereafter withdrew. The undersigned then appeared in behalf of the Defendant, after having been appointed by the Sixth District Court, and argued the Motion for New Trial, which was denied. This appeal followed the denial of the Motion for New Trial.

#### DISPOSITION AT TRIAL COURT

The Defendant was sentenced to one to fifteen years at the Utah State Prison. He remains incarcerated.

### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On August 10, 1989, the Defendant together with three (3) other individuals, Lewis Sudweeks, Evan Wiltshire, and David Kile, drove to various locations within Piute County, in and around Circleville, Junction, and Marysvale, Utah, and were drinking heavily.(T. 470-475) At some point in the early evening, the vehicle stopped near a gate on a dirt road outside of Marysvale,(T. 478) and the victim, Mr. David Kile, was shot with a 22 caliber firearm.(T. 482 and 568) Mr. Kile did not die at the scene (T.158-159) but died later in the hospital in Salt Lake City.(T. 134) Mr. Lewis Sudweeks claimed that he saw the Defendant shoot Mr. Kile,(T. 482) but Mr. Sudweeks testimony at trial regarding the events varied substantially from his testimony at the preliminary hearing.(Specific differences are pointed out in the Argument below) The Piute County Sheriff, Mr. Brent Gottfredson, investigated the scene,(T. 159-160) but the investigation was seriously flawed as will be shown later.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

There was jury tampering during the selection process and the trial, and the jury was not properly instructed regarding lesser included offenses. There is insufficient evidence to convict the Defendant of Manslaughter. The Defendant was denied due process of law due to inadequate representation by counsel at the trial of this matter.

## ARGUMENT

### POINT I

THE JURY INSTRUCTION ON MANSLAUGHTER WAS GIVEN IN DIRECT CONTRADICTION TO THE DEFENDANT'S WISHES.

Mr. Day wished the jury to be instructed solely on the offense of Second-Degree murder.(T.815-818) When the Court refused to instruct the jury solely on the elements of Second-Degree Murder and included an instruction on Manslaughter as a lesser included offense (T. 820) the Defendant then requested an additional instruction on Negligent Homicide.

(T. 818) The Court refused to give defense counsel's instruction on the lesser included offense of negligent homicide, a Class A Misdemeanor.

In view of the jury's reduction from Murder in the Second Degree to Manslaughter, it is easy to see that the Defendant could have been convicted on the lesser-included offense of Negligent Homicide if the jury had been so instructed.

The evidence in the case was clear that Mr. Day was highly intoxicated at the time that Mr. Kile was shot. Because of the concern about the mens rea in the case and the clear finding of the jury that there was insufficient mens rea to support a theory of Second-Degree Murder but that apparently there was a mens rea available for manslaughter, it should be pointed out that another alternative for a Class A Misdemeanor of negligent homicide should also have been examined. This Court as

well as the Utah Supreme Court have clearly distinguished the differences in the mens rea requirements between Manslaughter and Negligent Homicide.[See State v. Wessendorf, 777 P.2d 523 (Utah Ct. App., 1989) and State v. Dyer, 671 P.2d 142 (Utah, 1983)]

Conversely, Mr. Day's own wishes as shown in the record regarding the "all or nothing" position of Second-Degree Murder or not guilty could easily have given Mr. Day the not guilty verdict that he wanted since the jury clearly could not find Second-Degree Murder in the facts of the case. This issue also reflects on the competency of counsel issues as set forth hereinafter as that issue is outlined in the recent case of State v. Templin, 149 Utah Adv.Rep. 14 (Utah Sup.Ct., 1990).

#### POINT TWO

THE DEFENDANT WAS NOT ADEQUATELY REPRESENTED BY TRIAL COUNSEL AND THUS WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS OF LAW.

The Defendant's trial attorney failed to accurately elicit testimony regarding blood type testing of a cigarette butt found in the vicinity of the weapons allegedly used by the Defendant. Included in the addendum to this brief is a copy of the laboratory report on a Marlboro cigarette butt found in the vicinity of the firearms allegedly used in this crime.(T. 181) The Cigarette butt was admitted into evidence as Exhibit No. 26.

The trial counsel failed to adequately elicit testimony from Mr. Paul Hampton regarding the crime scene and failed to point out to the jury the differences in the crime scene story between preliminary hearing and trial as elicited from Sheriff

Gottfredson and Mr. Lewis Sudweeks. Included in the addendum to this brief are two sketches supplied to the undersigned by the Defendant's wife, Arva Lee Day. The undersigned was not trial counsel and was not present during either the preliminary hearing or the trial. The transcripts of the trial and the preliminary hearing are inadequate to accurately describe the scenes depicted. None of the attorney's made a clear record of the position of the parties. (see preliminary hearing transcript at 101-108, and the trial transcript at 479-486) However, the two drawings, made by Mrs. Day, clearly show the differences in the scenes at the two hearings. The vital differences in the two scenes and their adverse consequences will be pointed out below.

The Defendant's trial counsel failed to share evidence and documents with the Defendant and his wife making it impossible for the Defendant to adequately prepare for the defense of this matter.

The Defendant's trial counsel did not elicit testimony from any forensic expert regarding the crime scene, the angles of shots fired, the medical examiner's testimony, or other relevant factors regarding the crime scene investigation and the physical evidence in the case.

The Defendant's trial counsel failed to adequately investigate the relationship between the deceased, Mr. David Kile, and one Bobby Cox, who was the live-in girl friend of Mr. Lewis Sudweeks, and to point out the involvement of Bobby Cox in the investigation of the crime scene on the Monday morning

following the shooting.

The Defendant's trial counsel failed to call Peggy Palmer from the Kanab Job Service office and Pat Yero and Jim Willis, all of whom would have been favorable witnesses for the Defendant by rebutting the State's claim that the Defendant was in a hostile frame of mind on the morning of August 10, 1989.

The Defendant's trial counsel failed to point out the fact that the crime scene was subjected to a substantial rain storm, obliterating many important features, and he failed to elicit testimony to support that fact.

The most recent pronouncement on the issue of competency of trial counsel is brought forward in the case of State v. Templin, supra. In the Templin case the Utah Supreme Court followed the standard set forth by the United States Supreme Court in the case of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). The Strickland standard is a two-part test wherein the Defendant must first show that the trial counsel's performance was deficient. That would require errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed by the United States Constitution's Sixth Amendment. Secondly, the Defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This prejudice must show that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the Defendant of a fair trial or the result can be depended upon to be the product of minimal standards of the adversarial process. The acts or omissions of defense counsel have been set forth above. In order to point out the

prejudicial effect, they will each be analyzed in some detail.

The failure of the Defendant's trial counsel to ellicit testimony regarding blood-type testing of a cigarette butt leaves unanswered a question which could have been vital to the defense. The writer of this brief has learned that approximately eighty-five percent of the male population of the United States has a physiological characteristic of being a "secretor". This means that the person's ABO blood grouping blood type will appear in identifiable form in all bodily fluids, including saliva. The crime lab analysis of the cigarette butt found in the area of the rifles, one of which was allegedly used by the defendant, showed that there was no ABO antigen activity present on the cigarette. If Mr. Day is a secretor, his blood type could easily show up on a cigarette butt which would contain his saliva. This crucial fact could have been pointed out to the jury in order to separate Mr. Day from the site where the rifles were recovered. If Mr. Sudweeks was tested for secretor status, the results could have established substantial reasonable doubt in this case.[See State v. Goodman, 763 P.2d 786 (Utah, 1988) where secretor evidence was a key point]

At the preliminary hearing in this case, the State of Utah appears to have offered the theory that Mr. Kile was shot from some short distance from his body and that two .22 caliber casings, also found a short distance from Mr. Kile's body, were most likely the casings connected to the fatal shot.(Preliminary hearing transcript 35-36; also see diagram included in the

addendum to this brief labeled "Preliminary Hearing Scenario")

There were also two other .22 caliber shell casings recovered from the scene, but these had not been tested at the time of the preliminary hearing. (See preliminary hearing transcript 36) These casings were not tested until after the preliminary hearing, but were then identified as having come from Mr. Day's rifle. (The F.B.I. reports and the sheriff's transmittal letter are included in the addendum) These casings were found some 10 to 15 feet from the location where Mr. Kile fell, after being shot. (Trial T. 201-203)

At the trial, and after FBI analysis had linked Mr. Day's 22 caliber rifle to the expended casings found 10 to 15 feet from Mr. Kile, the State changed its theory by moving the truck and relying on the second pair of cartridges as having been connected to the fatal shot. (See "Trial scenario" diagram in addendum to this brief.)

The critical difference between the two scenes is the positioning of the truck which allegedly helped to locate Mr. Lewis Sudweeks, the State's eyewitness. In essence, Mr. Sudweeks told two substantially different versions of the facts, and took advantage of the tie between the .22 rifle and both pairs of shell casings. The vital importance to the Defendant comes when Dr. Gray, the medical examiner who did not testify at the preliminary hearing, testified at trial that the fatal shot had come from more than three feet away from Mr. Kile because there were no powder burns on the body. (T. 567) The two



casings found next to Mr. Kile's head could not have been the fatal casing because the range was too close. The casings found 10 to 15 feet away were consistent with the medical examiner's findings, but in the "Preliminary hearing scenario" drawing those casings came from the truck, the admitted location of Mr. Lewis Sudweeks. Deputy William Brewer, the man who found the "second" pair of casings, testified that they were recovered "approximately 10 to 15 feet from the blood soaked area here, and directly to the west and maybe a little south." (T. 202, lines 19-21) When considering the fact that the rifle in question is a semi-automatic weapon that ejects the expended casings to the right of the shooter it becomes almost certain that these "second" casings represent the fatal shot or shots. A shooter, with this rifle, standing in the door of the truck (as pictured in the "Preliminary hearing scenario") would leave casings exactly where Deputy Brewer found them. Mr. Sudweeks was implicating himself at the preliminary hearing because he did not know of the F.B.I. test results on the "second" pair of casings. By the time of the trial, Sudweeks had to move the truck to continue to shift the blame to the Defendant, and he did.

The failure of trial counsel to present the inconsistencies in the State's theory between preliminary hearing and trial and the further failure of the Defendant's counsel to diagram and appropriately preserve these inconsistencies in the record through visual exhibits or verbal description made it almost impossible to convincingly impeach the

testimony of Lewis Sudweeks, the State's only witness to implicate Mr. Day as the person firing the fatal shot. The lack of appropriate descriptions in the record make it difficult for the writer of this brief to adequately describe the prejudice suffered by the Defendant. The absence of a clear record on this vital issue reduces the undersigned, and the Court, to rely on the sketches of Mrs. Day. I am reluctant to do so, but the circumstances of this case and the condition of the record demand it. This state of the record, alone, may show sufficient errors of trial counsel to support a reversal of the Defendant's conviction.

The undersigned respectfully represents to the court that the Defendant's wife, when given an opportunity to review all of the files delivered to the undersigned by trial counsel, discovered many items, including the cigarette butt analysis and forensics reports, which had not been shared with her or the Defendant prior to the trial. Both Mr. and Mrs. Day, now having received copies of these vital documents, have been able to point out to the undersigned, based upon their knowledge of the case and the trial, how these documents were either improperly used or simply neglected by trial counsel. It has been this writer's practice over many years to share all of the documentary evidence together with transcripts with clients prior to proceeding to trial. If such a process had been used in Mr. Day's case, the trial outcome would likely have been different.

As pointed out above, the Defendant's trial counsel did

not elicit testimony regarding the crime scene and did not obtain any expert testimony on forensic medicine to discuss the angles of shots in view of the two inconsistent theories offered by the State at preliminary hearing and trial. A forensic expert, when presented with the two varying crime theories, could point out from the medical examiner's evidence and examination which of the two theories offered by the State is more or less conclusive and thereby help to impeach the testimony of Lewis Sudweeks.

The Defendant's trial counsel, having failed to adequately investigate the relationship between David Kile, Bobby Cox, and Lewis Sudweeks, failed to point out an important motivation for Mr. Sudweeks rather than Mr. Day to be the person to shoot David Kile. (See Memorandum In Support of Proposed Evidentiary Hearing Regarding Motion For New Trial, attached in addendum) The recent case of State v. Templin, as cited above, is a similar case where failure to interview and call witnesses has been pointed out to be substantially prejudicial to the interests of the Defendant at trial and to create the need for a reversal. The defense counsel had actually subpoenaed Peggy Palmer from the Kanab Job Service office and Pat Yero and Jim Willis, all of whom could have testified regarding the Defendant's positive mental state and good attitude prior to his departure from Kanab on the day of the shooting. None of this evidence was elicited by trial counsel.

The Defendant's trial counsel failed to point out the

fact that a rain storm passed over the crime scene and may have obliterated substantially important evidence because of its evidence on footprints and other physical evidence at the scene of the shooting.

### POINT THREE

THE PROSECUTOR, IN HIS CLOSING ARGUMENT, MISREPRESENTED THE TESTIMONY OF THE WITNESSES, AND THIS MISREPRESENTATION WAS INADEQUATELY MET BY THE DEFENDANT'S TRIAL COUNSEL THOUGH IT WAS HIGHLY DAMAGING TO THE DEFENDANT.

While delivering his final closing argument, the Prosecutor misstated evidence given during the testimony of Harold Morrill concerning the length of time that Lewis Sudweeks was gone between his two visits to the Morrill home.(T. Closing Arguments 78) Mr. Taylor did object to these misstatements, but it is claimed by this Defendant that this was prosecutorial misconduct by inferring that Mr. Sudweeks, the possible murderer, was not gone long enough to hide or otherwise dispose of Mr. Day's firearms. Mr. Morrill had testified that Lewis Sudweeks had been gone 20 to 30 minutes. (T. 620) Also in his closing argument, the prosecutor misstated the facts when he stated that the State's witness, Lewis Sudweeks, had been tested for alcohol(T. Closing Arguments 81) when there was no evidence in the trial that Mr. Sudweeks had been tested, and, in fact, Mr. Sudweeks had not been tested. Prosecutorial misconduct is grounds for reversal. (See State v. Johnson, 774 P.2d 1141.)

POINT FOUR

THERE WAS IMPROPER CONTACT BETWEEN THE STATE'S WITNESSES AND THE JURORS PRIOR TO THE SELECTION OF THE JURY AND DURING THE TRIAL CAUSING AN ADVERSE IMPACT AGAINST THE INTERESTS OF THIS DEFENDANT.

In view of this court's recent holding in the case of Logan City v. Carlson, 146 Ut.Adv.Rep.38 (Utah Ct.App., 1990), this court's specific attention is drawn to the affidavit of David Blackwell, the Defendant's co-counsel at trial who observed improper conduct and contact between Deputy Nalwalker and the jurors in this case.(Mr. Blackwell's Affidavit, together with those of Pat Yero and Joseph Johnson, are included in the addendum) This improper contact preceded the selection the jury and also continued after the selection of the trial jury as if shown by the affidavits filed in support of a Motion for New Trial. This court's specific attention is brought to the fact that the Motion for New Trial was not granted and that the evidentiary hearing requested by the defense in its Motion for New Trail was denied. For this reason, it was impossible to develop a factual basis regarding the contact between Deputy Nalwalker and Sheriff Gottfredson with potential jury members and the actual trial jury as was brought out in the Logan City case, supra. In view of the standards set by this court in the Logan City case, supra., it would appear that this contact alone is substantial argument for an immediate reversal and remand to the trial court for a new trial, or at the very least, an evidentiary

hearing regarding the improper contact between law enforcement personnel and jurors in the Motion for New Trial's setting.

POINT FIVE

THE CRIME SCENE INVESTIGATION MADE IT IMPOSSIBLE TO ELICIT SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO CONVICT THIS DEFENDANT. THERE WERE NUMEROUS PEOPLE WALKING THROUGHOUT THE CRIME SCENE AND DISTURBING POSSIBLE FOOTPRINT EVIDENCE ON THE CRIME SCENE. INADEQUATE PHOTOS WERE TAKEN ON THE NIGHT OF THE SHOOTING, AND IMPORTANT ESTABLISHING LANDMARKS WERE LOST ON THE NIGHT OF THE SHOOTING EITHER DUE TO FAILURE TO PHOTOGRAPH OR THE RAINSTORM AS MENTIONED ABOVE.

The Piute County Sheriff failed to establish the locations of the pickup truck before it was moved thus destroying the evidence of its location which was essential to the investigation. The Sheriff had to take Mr. Sudweeks back to the crime scene to reconstruct the homicide. (Preliminary hearing transcript 142)

The Piute County Sheriff allegedly marked the location of the recovery of expended shells with his boot in the dirt, and these marks would have been eliminated by the rain storm of that early following morning.

There was no gunshot residue testing on any of the persons present at the time of the shooting.

Only the Defendant, Mr. Day, was given an intoxilyzer test in order to determine the level of intoxication of the persons present at the shooting scene.

There was no testing of fibers or clothing analysis and no testing of Mr. Evan Wiltshire who apparently had been injured and was bleeding at the scene of the shooting.

There was no background investigation of Mr. Lewis Sudweeks either by the Piute County Sheriff's office or the Defendant's counsel.

#### POINT SIX

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