1990

Utah v. Lew Day : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

²⁴ Totally lacking in record support for his claims, defendant asserts that Sudweeks "told two substantially different versions of the facts, [taking] advantage of the tie between the .22 caliber rifle and both pairs of shell casings" (Br. of App. at 9). According to defendant, Sudweeks's alleged inconsistency is of "vital importance" to his case because "Dr. Gr[e]y, the medical examiner[,] who did not testify at the preliminary hearing, testified at trial that the fatal shot had come from more than three feet away" from the victim's body (Br. of App. at 9). However, as previously noted, and contrary to defendant's assertions, Dr. Grey did testify at the preliminary hearing and his testimony there was entirely consistent with his testimony at trial (P.H. at 51-70; T. at 565-94). At both proceedings Dr. Grey testified that the cause of death was a gunshot wound to the head (P.H. at 59; T. at 568). He further testified that it was not possible to determine the exact range from which the fatal shot was fired, which could have been fired from anywhere within an indeterminate range of from 5 to 50 feet, but not less than three feet from the victim (P.H. at 57; T. at 567).

²⁵ Defendant further asserts that his trial counsel failed to preserve alleged inconsistencies in the State's theory through diagrams, visual exhibits or verbal description which "made it almost impossible to convincingly impeach" Sudweeks's testimony implicating defendant as the shooter, or to "adequately describe the prejudice suffered. . . ." (Br. of App. at 10-11). In addition, defendant notes that his trial counsel did not obtain any "expert testimony on forensic medicine to discuss the angles of shots in view of the two inconsistent theories offered by the State" (Br. of App. at 12). However, as previously noted, defendant fails to point to any specific inconsistencies in the record. Moreover, Sudweeks testified consistently both at the preliminary hearing and at trial that he saw defendant shoot Kile from his vantage point behind the driver's side door of defendant's truck, that defendant was standing in front of the truck, and that Kile was standing south and east of the truck, near the Henrie gate (P.H. at 102-05, 139-49; T. at 478-82).

speculative assertions together with his lack of record support simply fail to demonstrate either deficient performance by his trial counsel or prejudice to his defense.

Defendant further attacks the adequacy of his trial counsel's impeachment of Sudweeks's testimony on the ground that counsel "failed to adequately investigate the relationship between David Kile, Bobby Cox, and Lewis Sudweeks," and therefore "failed to point out an important motivation for Mr. Sudweeks rather than Mr. Day to be the person to shoot David Kile" (Br. of App. at 12). Again, defendant's bald assertion is totally devoid of record support. Contrary to defendant's allegation, his trial counsel fully investigated the alleged "affectionate" relationship between the victim, David Kile, and Sudweeks's apparent common law wife at the time of the shooting, Bobby Cox. Kile's relationship with Cox was brought out during trial through the testimony of defense witnesses, William L. Christiansen and Lori Franklin, who testified that they had observed Cox and Kile drinking together on several occasions (T. at 744-45, 766). Franklin further testified that she had observed affectionate acts between Cox and Kile including "kissing," "hugging," and "putting their hand on each other's legs" (T. at 772-786). Franklin also testified she had heard a conversation between Cox and Sudweeks during which Sudweeks called Kile a "low life" and stated "that somebody should give him a blanket party in the near future" (T. at 766). Defendant does not suggest what further investigation should or could have been conducted, nor does he mention what, if any, additional evidence could have been

presented. In light of the above, defendant's frivolous and unsupported allegations establish neither deficiency nor prejudice and are without merit.

Relying on State v. Templin, 149 Utah Adv. Rep. 14 (Utah 1990), defendant appears to further assert that his trial counsel was ineffective for not calling certain witnesses to testify at trial concerning his "positive mental state and good attitude" the morning of the shooting (Br. of App. at 12). However, there is simply no indication in the record that either Peggy Palmer, Pat Yero or Jim Willis would have testified concerning defendant's positive attitude the morning of August 10, 1989 had they been called at trial. Moreover, defendant has not demonstrated how, in view of the overwhelming evidence against him, testimony regarding his alleged positive attitude would have had anything other than a negligible effect on the jury. Because defendant has not demonstrated either deficiency or prejudice, his claim of ineffectiveness is without merit. Id. at 17 n.26 (defendant did not meet burden of demonstrating there was a reasonable probability of a different result at trial where he failed to provide reviewing court with any evidence concerning what the witness would have testified to had he been called during trial).

Finally, defendant asserts that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to elicit testimony concerning an alleged rainstorm which "may have obliterated substantially important evidence" (Br. of App. at 7, 12-13). Again defendant's vague assertion is wholly lacking in record support. Although evidence

of a light rain was presented at the preliminary hearing, there is no indication in the record that any evidence was obliterated as a result (P.H. at 29).²⁶ Because defendant has failed to point to any specific, identified acts or omissions that fall outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance, his allegations of ineffectiveness are without merit.

POINT III

THE PROSECUTOR PROPERLY DISCUSSED THE
EVIDENCE AND THE INFERENCES AND DEDUCTIONS
ARISING THEREFROM DURING CLOSING ARGUMENT.

Defendant asserts that the prosecutor misstated in closing argument the actual time period that Harold Morrill testified defendant was gone from his porch the night of the shooting. He further asserts that the prosecutor misstated in closing argument that the State's witness, Lewis Sudweeks, submitted to a blood alcohol test (Br. of App. at 13). A careful review of the record demonstrates that defendant's assertions of prosecutorial misconduct are without merit.

In reviewing an allegation of prosecutorial misconduct, this Court must determine whether the prosecutor's remarks called the attention of the jury to matters "they would not be justified in considering in reaching the verdict and, if so, whether there is a reasonable likelihood" that the remarks "so prejudiced the jury that there would have been a more favorable result absent the misconduct." State v. Speer, 750 P.2d 186, 190 (Utah 1988);

²⁶ Significantly, Sheriff Gottfredson testified that he marked the location of shell casings discovered the night of the shooting with his foot and that those markings still were present when the investigation was continued the following morning (T. at 266).

State v. Tillman, 750 P.2d 546, 559-61 (Utah 1987). In determining whether a remark is prejudicial the alleged misconduct must be viewed in light of the totality of the trial and the trial court's ruling on this matter will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion. Speer, 750 P.2d at 190.

As a general rule, counsel for each side has considerable latitude and may discuss fully from their viewpoints the evidence and the inferences and deductions arising therefrom in closing argument. Tillman, 750 P.2d at 560 (citations omitted). The prosecutor's closing argument in this case was properly within this latitude and defendant has not demonstrated that he called the attention of the jurors to matters outside the record, nor has defendant demonstrated that the alleged misstatements so prejudiced the jury that there was a strong likelihood of a more favorable result absent the prosecutor's remarks.²⁷ During the course of closing argument, the prosecutor

²⁷ Moreover, the jurors were instructed that argument by the attorneys was not evidence in the case:

You must not consider as evidence, any statement of counsel made during this trial; however, if counsel for the parties stipulate you will regard that fact as being conclusively proved.

As to any question to which an objection was sustained, you must not speculate as to what the answer might have been or as to the reason for the objection.

You must not consider any evidence that was rejected or any evidence that was stricken.

A question is not evidence, and may be considered only as it supplies meaning to the

made the following observation concerning the testimony of Harold Morrill:

Harold Morrill didn't testify that Lew Day was gone 20 to 30 minutes. That's not a correct statement of the evidence. What he said was, "I left him (Sudweeks) on the porch, went in and took care of my children. When I came out, he was gone." He didn't know if he (Sudweeks) left 30 seconds before--

(C.A. at 78). At this point in the prosecutor's closing argument, defense counsel objected, asserting that Harold Morrill had actually testified that defendant was gone 20 to 30 minutes (C.A. at 78). The trial court overruled defense counsel's objection, stating that "[t]he jury heard the testimony[;] [t]hey can rely on their joint memory" (C.A. at 79). The prosecutor then continued his argument as follows:

Harold Morrill talked about what he did. He went in the bathroom, took care of his little girl, got her out of the tub, put her pajamas on, got the boy out, wrapped him in a towel, and walked back out. That's all he said he could remember doing.

He said, "I did not look at my clock. Any estimate, any time I give is an estimate. That's what I did. I don't know when Sudweeks left. All I know is when I come out, he was gone."

Now that could have been 30 seconds. It could have been 5 minutes. The evidence isn't clear on that. But it is clear that when he came back, he was scared to death.

(C.A. at 79). Although defendant claims the prosecutor's statements were erroneous, his assertion is not supported by a

²⁷ Cont. answer.

(Jury Instruction #5).

review of Harold Morrill's testimony at trial (T. at 617-623; a copy of Harold Morrill's testimony is attached hereto as Addendum C). Harold Morrill was not sure how long Sudweeks was gone from his porch (T. at 618-23). After speaking briefly with Sudweeks, Harold went inside the Morrill home to retrieve his daughter from the bathtub; when he came back outside, Sudweeks was gone. (T. at 618). Approximately 10 to 15 minutes later, Harold's father, Dale Morrill, arrived home and Harold began telling him about Sudweeks's first visit (T. at 618). Shortly thereafter, Sudweeks returned (T. at 618). On cross-examination, Harold agreed with defense counsel that it was possible Sudweeks could have been gone for approximately 20 to 30 minutes (T. at 620). However, at no time did Harold Morrill emphatically state that he was certain defendant was gone from the porch for 20 to 30 minutes and no less; rather, that time period was merely a possibility. Sudweeks testified that he was gone less than 10 minutes (T. at 559). Based on the foregoing testimony, it cannot reasonably be argued that the prosecutor misstated the evidence, specifically the testimony of Harold Morrill. Rather, the prosecutor's comments amounted to nothing more than the wholly appropriate drawing of inferences and deductions from ambiguous testimony.

Defendant's additional allegation of prosecutorial misconduct is similarly unsupported by a careful review of the record. Defendant asserts that the prosecutor improperly stated that Lewis Sudweeks had been given a blood alcohol test, when in fact he had not (Br. of App. at 13). However, defendant failed to object to this alleged misstatement at trial; therefore, he is

barred from raising it on appeal. State v. Johnson, 774 P.2d 1141, 1147 (Utah 1989). Assuming this Court decides to address defendant's argument, the following analysis is provided by the State.

The prosecutor stated in pertinent part as follows:

All the evidence in this case stacks the intoxication level like this: Evan is the most drunk, Lew Day is the least. All the witnesses, all the tests, they wanted us to test Evan Wiltshire. What would that change in this case if Evan Wiltshire had been tested and shown to have an obvious high high level of intoxication?

If you test Lew--we tested Lew Sudweeks. Lew Sudweeks had a high level of intoxication in between Lew Day and Evan Wiltshire. Those are smokescreens that will not help you in your deliberation.

(C.A. at 80-81). Although the prosecutor's observation was clearly prefaced by an "If," the comment is admittedly ambiguous. However, even assuming the prosecutor misstated the evidence, the effect of a such a misstatement was likely negligible in view of the overwhelming evidence that all four men had been drinking heavily. In any event, defendant has failed to demonstrate that the prosecutor's remarks prejudiced him such that there was a likelihood of a more favorable result.

POINT IV

DEFENDANT'S ALLEGATIONS OF IMPROPER JUROR/WITNESS CONTACT HAVE NOT BEEN PRESERVED FOR REVIEW BY THIS COURT; ALTERNATIVELY, REVERSAL ON THAT GROUND IS NOT WARRANTED.

On appeal to this Court, defendant appears to assert that there was improper contact between the State's witness, Deputy Robert Nalwalker, who also assisted in the trial

proceedings, and juror Grover Smith (Br. of App. at 14).

However, in denying defendant's motion for new trial, the trial court expressly found that defense counsel had specifically waived the issue of alleged improper juror/witness contact (R. at 416-18).

During a lunch recess in the course of defendant's trial March 26-30, 1990, Deputy Nalwalker observed juror Smith emerge from the men's restroom (R. at 264). Aware that the other jurors had already been taken to lunch by court personnel, Deputy Nalwalker approached Smith and asked him to wait, stating that he would ask the judge what to do about Smith's being left behind (R. at 264-265, 308). After consulting with the judge, Deputy Nalwalker informed Smith that the judge had instructed him (Nalwalker) and the county clerk (who was serving as bailiff) to drive Smith to the cafe where the other jurors were eating (R. at 265, 308-09). Deputy Nalwalker, the bailiff and juror Smith then drove, "without conversing," approximately one or two miles to Dayna's Cafe where Smith joined the other jurors (R. at 265; 308-09; copies of affidavits filed by Deputy Nalwalker and Grover Smith are attached hereto as Addendum D).

In support of defendant's motion for new trial filed May 23, 1990, defense counsel, David Blackwell, filed an affidavit with the trial court stating that he had observed two conversations between juror Smith and Deputy Nalwalker during a trial recess (R. at 258-59). However, at a hearing on the matter held June 7, 1990, defense counsel, Marcus Taylor, advised the trial court that he and Blackwell had discussed the matter and

decided not to raise any objection to the contact between Smith and Nalwalker (R. at 416). In a memorandum decision denying defendant's new trial motion, the trial court expressly found that the issue of alleged improper contact between Deputy Nalwalker and Smith had been waived:

Defense counsel were aware of the contact in question and made a decision not raise any question in relation thereto. The Court concludes this constituted a waiver. It would not be appropriate for defense counsel to invite error, albeit by silence, and then to rely thereon. State v. Parsons, 781 P.2d 1275, 1285 (Utah 1989).

(R. at 416-18; see Addendum A). In State v. Parsons, 781 P.2d 1275 (Utah 1989), relied upon by the trial court, defense counsel specifically waived any prejudice resulting from conversation between a juror and a witness and then subsequently attempted to assert that contact was prejudicial on appeal. In determining that the issue of alleged improper juror witness contact had been "affirmatively, knowingly, and intentionally" waived, the Utah Supreme Court held that "'invited error' (if there were any) 'is procedurally unjustified and viewed with disfavor, especially where ample opportunity has been afforded to avoid such a result'" Id. at 1285 (citing Tillman, 750 P.2d at 560-61). Similarly, because defendant's trial counsel were aware of the contact between juror Smith and Deputy Nalwalker during trial and took no action to challenge the alleged impropriety at that time, this Court may properly decline to review defendant's allegation of improper juror witness contact on the ground of waiver.

Notwithstanding defendant's apparent waiver, assuming this Court determines to reach the merits of his allegation, the

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